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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATESOF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 13-1832 (JDB)

ALL ASSETSHELDIN ACCOUNT

NUM BER 80020796, IN THE NAM E OF
DORAVILLE PROPERTIESCORP.,,

AT DEUTSCHE BANK INTERNATIONAL,
LTD.IN JERSEY, CHANNEL ISLANDS,
AND ALL INTEREST,BENEFITSOR
ASSETSTRACEABLE THERETO, etal.,

Defendants.

MEM ORANDUM OPINION

The United States brings this in rem action pursuari8tt).S.C. 8§ 981(a)(1)(A)seeking
forfeiture of sixteen defendant propertiealeged to have beepart of “an international
conspiracy to launder proceeds of corruption in Nigeria during the military regin&ercéral
Sani Abachd. Compl. [ECF No. 1] 1 1. Caimants—all relatives of an individual alleged to
have been involved in the conspiraelgave moved to dismiss thlgovernmeris complaintwith
respect to four of the defendant propertbich are investment portfolios located in the United
Kingdom that alkgedly contain assets worthmany milions of dollars. Having carefuly
considered the motion and related papeasd for the reasons described below, the Court will

deny claimants motion.

! Claimants’ Mot. tdDismiss [ECF No. 55] (“Mot. to Dismiss”); Gov't's Opp’n todd. to Dismiss [ECF
No. 73] (“Opp’n”); Claimants’ Reply to Opp’n [ECF No. 74] ERly™).
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BACKGROUND

l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The United States inttiated thirfeiture action on November 18, 2013, by fiing a
verified complaint for forfeiture in rem against five corpamad sevenbank accountsand four
investment portfolios. The governmenalleges that Nigeria formerde factoPresideniGeneral
Sani Abacha, his sons Mohammed Sani Abacha and Ibrahim Sani Abachaasthagiate
Abubakar Atiku BaguduNigerias former National Security Advisor Ismaila Gwarzo, Nigeria
former Minister of Finance G#f Anthony Ani, and others‘embezzled, misappropted,
defrauded, and extorted hundreds of milions of dollars from the government of Nigada
then “transported and laundered the proceeds . . . through conduct in and affecting the United
States. Id. 17 1,8-15. Defendant investment portfoliese alleged to contain proceeds from
these ilegal activities

Eight daimants—all relatives of Abubakar Atiku Bagudu (hereinaftéBagudt)—have
fled verified claims of interest ithe investment portfoliosassertingthat theyare beneficiaries
of the portfolios? Three claimantare adults: Ibrahim Bagudu (Bagusibrother), Aisha Atiku
Bagudu (one of Baguds wives), and Ibrahim Atiku Bagudu (Bagisluadult child). The
remaining fiveare minor chidren oBagudu and Aisha Atiku Bagudivl.A.B., |.A.B., F.A.B.,
M.A.B., and H.A.B. |.A.B. is a dited Statesitizen; the other seven claimants are foreign
citizens. All claimants reside in Nigeria and name implicated in the governméstallegations
of wrongdoing. Claimants have movetb dismiss the complaint as tihe four defendant
investment portfolios, buthey do not challenge the complaint as to the other twelve defendant

propertieswith respect tavhich a default judgment has been entered.

2 Initially, there were ten claimants, but two (a vafeda minor child of Baguduwwithdrew their claims.
SeeUnopposed Mot. to Withdraw Verified Claims of Zainabri#aifi Bagudu and R.A.B. [ECF No. 66]; Aug. 19,
2014 Minute Order Granting Mot. to Withdraw Verified Claiwf Zainab Shinkafi Bagudu and R.A.B.
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Il.  VERIFIED COMPLAINT

The following fads arederivedfrom the verified complaint and are assumed to be true
for the purposes of deciding claimantaotion to dismiss.

The government alleges that the fundgsi@gfendant investment portfoli@se traceable to
two ilegal scheme8. The first scheme is referred to as ti8ecurity Votes Frautwhich began
when, between January 1994 and June 1@$heral Abacha, National Security Advisor
Gwarzo, and others'stole more than $2 bilion from Nigeria by fraudulently and falsely
represeting that the funds were to be used for national security purpokkd] 25. The theft of
funds was allegedly committed WgeneralAbacha and Gwarzo when thégxecuted false
national security letters [referred to ‘&security votes lettet$ directing the withdrawal of funds
from the [Central Bank of Nigerid]. Id. Gwarzo,"at GeneralAbachas directiori, prepared
these security votes letters and addressed thei@etwral Abacha “purporting to request
milions of U.S. dollars, British pounds steginand Nigerian naira to address unidentified
‘emergencigsthat threatened Nigef& national interests. Id.  26. GeneralAbacha“endorsed
each letter with his signatureto approve the disbursementdd. Over sixty such endorsed
security votedetters were sent to the Central Bank of Nigeria in Abuja, Nigeria, where the bank
disbursedthe funds as requested in each letiefin cash or travelés check, or through wire
transfers.” Id. 1 26, 28. Instead of using the funds for national security purpogks, stolen
money was transported out of Nigeria and deposited into accounts controlli&enigyal
Abachas associates, including [his son] Mohammed Abacha and Bagudi. § 25. The

complaint includes three examples of seesecurity votesletters. Id. T 28.

3Thereis a third scheme alleged in the compla@aCompl. 11 94100, but defendant properties are not
alleged to be derived fromit and claimants do not conbess ufficiency of thgovernment'dactual allegations
related to it.
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The process of using security votes lettéte take [funds] from the [Central Bank of
Nigeria] violated what the [Central Bank of Nigeria] has describedaasepted government
procedures’ Id. § 27. “The proper procedure requirdhe Ministe of Finance and the
AccountantGeneral to each approve disbursements in accordance with Nigewidget. Id.
The security votes letters at issue were not properly appr@amd were also not included in
Nigerids budget for the relevanis€al years. 1d. After GeneralAbachas death, Nigeria
established a Special Investigation Parigthich found thatGeneral Abacha and his eo
conspirators had used the false security votes letters to steal and defraudamd@2 bilion in
public funds, including: (1) at least $1.1 bilion and £413 milion pounds sterling (GBP) Ip cas
(2) at least $50,456,450 and £3,500,000 GBP in tragetdrecks; and (3) at least $386,290,169
through wire transfers. Id. T 29.

After the funds were disbursed from the Central Bank of Nigeria, bank staffotieat
individuals known and unknown to the United Statesould deliver the funds td\ational
Security AdvisorGwarzo at his residenceld. § 31. “Gwarzo and others acting kis direction
would [then] repackage the currency in secure bags .adélver it to GeneralAbacha at his
residenc€. Id. “GeneralAbacha or those acting at his directioftherj delivered more than
$700 milion of these funds tflGeneralAbachas sof Mohammed Abachan bags or boxes full
of cash’! Id. § 32. Mohaxmed Abacha, in turn, gaveattash to Bagudu, wh@rranged for the
money to be transferred to accounts controled by Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha in foreign
countries’ Id. § 33. “In order to move the mey oversea’,Bagudu deposited the money,
which he referred to as hiscash swap8, in two local Nigerian banks, and then tend/or
Mohammed AbacHainstructed those banks to transfer the funds to accouatseawned by

Mohammed Abacha and Bagudud.  34. “Transfers included deposits into accounts in the



name of [defendant corporations]” under the control of Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha.
19 33-34. “[A]t least $137 miliori of these funds werétransported into and out of the United
States’ 1d. T 35. The complaint describemrious specific transactions in support of these
allegations. Id. T 35(a}(f). And as discussed below, the funds wiater pooled with funds
from the second schenand thenlaundered and transferred to defendant investment portfolios.
Seeid. 11 5293

The second scheme, referred to as “thebt BuyBack Fraud, began in 1996, when
Bagudu and others arranged for the Nigerian government,GeitieralAbachas approval, to
repurchase its ven debt from Mecosta—a company owned by Bagudu and Mohammed
Abacha—at a price significantly higher than what Nigeria would have paid on the open market.
Id. 19 3644. The backgroundf this scheme iss follows. Nigeria hadagreed to pay a Russian
company (TPE) in debt instruments in exchange for the construction of a steelgldh87. A
dispute arose, howeveand Nigeria suspended payment and defaulted on the outstanding debt
Id. § 38. Bagudu learned that another company (Patald be wiling to sell the debt to one
of Bagudus companies (in this case, Mecosta).ld. 1 39. Bagudu approachegeneral
Abachas other son Ibrahim Abacha and Nigerian Finance Minister AntAomywho assured
Bagudu that if Mecostdought the debt, Nigeria would buy it from Mecost&d. § 40. “To
guarantee that Nagia would purchase the deBtni entered into an agreement on behalf of
Nigeria to buy the debt from Mecosta on April 14, 1996, more than four mbetbse either
Parrar or Mecosta actualy acquired the debtld. Bagudu therforchestrated a series of
transactions through which Mecosta received money in escrow from Nigedathasenoney to
purchase the debt from Parnar, and sold the debt back to Nigeria at a signifidaupt’méd.
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Specificaly, Bagudu arranged for TPE to sell approximately 1.6 bilion [German

Deutschemarks“DM”)] of its Nigerian debt instruments to Parnar on or about

September 30, 1996, for 350 milion DM. That same day, Parnar resold the same

debt to Mecosta, raising the price to 486 milion DM. Mecosta immegdiatel

marked up the price again and sold it back to Nigeria for 972 milion DM, which

the Nigerian government paid in two installments of 486 milion DM.
Id. T 42. GeneralAbacha“personally approvédNigerias purchase of the deligven though
Nigeria would have saved hundreds of milions of dollars by buying the debt on the open market
at the price TPE was wiling to sell it, which was nearly-thicds less thamNigeria ultimately
paid for the debt. Id. 1 44. “Mohammed Abacha and Bagudu, tae owners of Mecosta,
yielded a profit of approximately 481 milion DM or $282,506,664d. 1 43.

Proceedsfrom the Debt BuyBack scheme were wired fromigeria, throughiNew York,
to corporate account@t Goldman Sachs in ZurichSwitzerland controlled by Mohammed
Abacha and Baguduld. 145. Shortly thereafter:officials at Goldman Sachs informed Bagudu
and Mohammed Abacha that the bank was ending their relationship over concerns about the
source of the monéy. Id. 1 46. As a result, Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha moved the funds
from the account at Goldman Sachs to an account for Mecosta at Banque Biathgrs in
Geneva, Switzerland.Id. Officials at Banque Baring Brothers thémformed Bagudu and
Mohammed Abacha that the bank was terminating its relationship with Mecostaatse
representations made by Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha about theadheremoney’ Id.
1 47. “Bagudu and Mohammed had falsely represented . . . that the funds came from the oil and
gas industry. Id. Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha then moved the money from B&agjing
Brothers to an account for Mecosta at DBIL in Jersey, whiefied] on false representations of
Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha and false documents purportedly showing legitimate sources of

the Mecosta mon€y. Id. 1 48. “For example, Bagudu and Mmimmed Abacha represented to

DBIL that the Mecosta funds were the proceeds of oil, construction, and eneigg.'trdd.



Once the funds from the Security Voteshemeand the Debt BuBack schemavere
transferred oubf Nigeria, they were laundered through the purchase of money instraments
referred to as Nigerian Par Bordbacked by the United States that were ldidgidated Id.

19 52-93. The investment portfolios contain funds derived frtime liquidation of theNigerian
Par Bonds Seeid.

PLEADING STANDARDS

The Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act of 2000CAFRA™), 18 U.S.C. § 98Et seq.
establishd the procedural and substantive rulas govern forfeiture actions. The government
brings this forfeiture action under one oAERA'’s substantive provisions: secti@81(a)(1)(A).
Hence the pleading requirements for this action are governed by the Supplementaldrules f
Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actiprspecifically, Rule G of the
Supplemental Ruleswvhich “governs a forfeiture action in rem arising from a federal statute
Fed. R. Civ. P. Supf®R. A(1); G(1). The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure also apply, except to
the extent that they are inconsistent with the Supplemental Redas.R. Civ. P. Supp. R(2).

Supplemental Rule G(2) requires that the governmervmplaint for forfeiture in rem
“state sufficiently detailed facts to support a reasonable belief thgbweenment wil be able to
meet its burden of proof at trial Fed.R. Civ. P. Supp.R G(2)(f). The governmets burden of
proof at trial is“to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the property is subject to
forfeiture.” 18 U.S.C.8 983(c)(1). In other words, at the pleading stage, the complaint is only
required to“statethe circumstances from which the claim arises with such particularity that the
defendant or claimant wil be able, without moving for a more definite statetoecommence
an investigation of the facts and to frame a responsive pléadirgd. R. Civ. P. Supp. R.

E(2)(a); Fed. R. Civ. P. Supp. R. G, Advisory Committee Notes (noting that ‘theasonable



belief’” standard in Rule G(2)(f) mirrors the sufficiency standard in Rule(&)2kee alsdJnited

States v. One Gulfstream,-\G Jet Aircraft 941 F. 8pp. 2d 1, 14 (D.D.C. 2013) (“At the

pleading stage, it suffices for the government to simply alege enough facts so thaimbetc
may understand the theory of forfeiture, file a responsive pleading, and undertakeg@ateade
investigation.”). Notably, a civil forfeiture complaint may nobe dismissed because the
government lacked sufficient evidence of forfeitabiity at the time of fiipge 18 U.S.C.
8 983(a)(3)(D), and the government may use evidence gathered after fiingttisnbeeden of
proof at trial seeid. § 983(c)(2).

A claimant in an in rem proceeding may move to dismiss under Rule 12¢o).R. Civ.
P. Supp.R. G(8)(b)(). When considering a Rule 12@))fnotion to dismiss, the court construes
the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff &mdist assume the truth of all well

pleaded allegatior’s. Warren v. District of Columbia, 353 F.3d 36, 39 (D.C. Cir. 2004)he

plaintiff must be aférded every favorable inference that may be drawn from the allegations of

fact set forth in the complaiit. United States v. Sevenline Thousand Three Hundred

TwentyOne Dollars 522 F. Supp. 2d 64, 68 (D.D.C. 2007). Moreovaciual challenges are

nat permitted under Rule 12(b)(6and thecourt may“consider onlythe facts alleged in the
complaint, any documents either attached to or incorporated in the complaint and ofatters

which [it] may take judicial noticé4 EEOC v. St. Francis XavilRarochialSch, 117F.3d 621,

624 (D.C. Cir. 1997)

“ In support of their motion, claimants submit various attaetts.Certainly, “the facts alleged in the
complaint, documents attached as exhibits orincorporateeférence in the complaint,” as well as “documents
upon which the plaintiff's complaint necessarily rellesay be considered by theourt in assessing a motion to
dismiss. Ward v. D.C. Dep’t of Youth Rehab. Serv#68 F. Supp. 2d 117, 119 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal quotation
marks omitted). Anything else is extraneous and cannotm&dered at this stage.
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DISCUSS ON

Claimants put forth four main arguments in their motion to dismiss:tlil§ Court lacks
jurisdiction over this case(2) the timing of the complaintexceed the applicable statute of
imitations andviolates claimant$ due process righty3) the doctring of international comity
and act of statenecessitate dismissafind (4) the complainfails to allege that defendant
investment portfolios arsubject to forfeiture.None of these argumengse successful

l. JURISDICTION

Congress hagrovided that “[w]heneverproperty subject to forfeiture under the laws of
the United States is located in a foreign country, or has been detained dpseent to legal
process or competent authority of a foreign government, an action or proceeding faurdorfei
may be brought . . in the United States Districioart for the District of Columbid. 28 U.S.C.

§ 1355(b)(2). Subsection (d) of the same statefers to“[a]ny court with jurisdiction over a
forfeiture action pursuant to subsection (b) . " .Id. 8 1355(d) Upon consideration dhese
provisions the D.C. Circuithas explained that‘Congress intended the District Court for the
District of Columbia, among others, to have jurisdiction to order the forfeiture of tyoper

located in foreign countries. United States v. All Funds in Account in Bandgspaidl de

Credito, Spain295 F.3d 23, 27 (D.C. Cir. 2002)

Here, the government has alleged that defendant properties are located abraesl and
subject to forfeiture, anthat hence this Court has jurisdiction to hear the forfeiture action under
section1355(b)(2) Claimantsdisagree First, theyargue thgtbecause‘there are virtually no
contacts between th€laimed Property and the U.Sjyrisdiction is not proper. Mot. to Digss
at 2. Use of the United States banking system, howgvevides sufficient contact between

propertyand the United States farcivil forfeiture actionin rem. See, e.g.United States VAl




AssetsHeld at Bank Julus Baer & Co., 571 F. Supp.12d0n.8 (D.D.C. 2008) Andhere the

government hasllegedwidespread use of the United States banking system istohegeand
movementof funds and the ligdation of investment instruments Se, e.g. Compl. T 35 (wire
transfers of security vote proceeds passed through ANZ (New)Y &gl (a wire transfer of
approximately $2.4 milion of the Debt BiBack schemeroceedspassedrom an account for
Mecosta at Credit Agricole Indosuéizondor) to Marine Midland Bank, N.A(New YorK to
ANZ (New Yak), and then to ANZ (Londoj) T 85 (the Nigerian Par Bonds were liqtath
through Citibank(New York)).

Claimants alsoargue against jurisdictionbecausethey allegedly “have less than the
required minimum contacts with the United Stdteddot. to Dismiss at 2. Butvhethera court
has personal jurisdiction over claimants is notvalid jurisdictional consideration in an in rem
civil forfeiture action. Insteadpnce a court has determined that jurisdiction exists over an in rem
civil forfeiture adion, the court has jurisdiction to adjudicatt claims to the defendant property

SeeTennessee Student Assistance Corp. v. HeéH U.S. 440, 453 (2004)J] urisdiction over

the person is irrelevant if the court has jurisdiction over the propefsiting 4A C. Wright &

A. Miler, Federal Practice & Procedu& 1070 (3d ed. 2002)). Accordingly, the Court has

jurisdiction over this in rem civil forfeiture actipmegardless of claimantgersonalcontacts
with the United States
. TIMING OF THE COMPLAINT
The statute of limitatianfor bringing a civil forfeiture action isfive years after the time
when thealleged offense was discoveteal “2 years after the time when the involvement of the

property in the alleged offense was discovéradhichever is later. 19 U.S.C. § 1621; 18 U.S.C.

S If it were otherwise, then United States’ forfeé actions againstproperty located outside of théedni
States would always be dismissed whenever a foreigonahtvithout minimum contacts entered a claimto the
property and raised personal jurisdiction as an is#ug unlikely that this isvhat Congress intended.

10



§ 981(d) (adopting 19 U.S.C. § 1662 seq. Pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1621(2), however, the
clock is tolled during any'absence of the propettyfrom the United States. And the D.C.
Circuit has held thatwhen propertyis located outside of the United Statédsere isan“absence

of the property because'when property is not here it is abséntBanco Espafipl95 F.3dat

27, see alsad. (“There is no particular reason . . . for stretching the wabdenceto mean
something other than not presént. In that case,he Circuitfound the claimans argument that
“property cannot be absent unless it was first in this country and then rénmJedincorrect.
Id.; see alsad. (“If Congress had meanthat the claimant suggests, we would expect some
reference in the statute to the act of removal, but there is"horighe Circuit futher notel that
We recognize that our reading tols the running of the limitations period
indefinitely for bringing actions against drug proceeds Ilocated in foreign
countries. But given the uncertainties of foreign cooperation, Congress may not
have wanted to force the government to bring forfeiture proceedings within five
years to recover such property.
Id. The Cicuit was well awargthen,thatits reading of the toling statute could leadetdended
or evenindefinite tolling in certain situationsbut reacheds decision nonetheless
Here, becauselefendant properties are investment portfolosated in the United
Kingdom that havebeen“abserit from the United Statesince theircreation the statuteof-
imitations clock has been tolled pursuant to 19 U.S81621(2) And because the complaint
was filed during theongoing “absence of therpperty from the United Stateshis forfeiture
proceeding commencealithin the applicable statutef-limitations period
Claimants acknowledg that binding precedenprovides that the statuteof-limitations
clock is tolled incircumstances likehose here Nevertheless, thegrgue that the Court should

decline to toll thetime for this particular action They contendthat the government has been

“well aware of the allegations that form the basis of the Complainsimdtion as early as May
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2003; yet “inexcusbly decided to wait nearly ten years to fieese forfeiture proceedings.
Mot. to Dismiss atl4-15. But nothing indicateghat the government maliciously waited to bring
this action To the contrarythe government assertiat it knew about defendamvestment
portfolios involvement in the alleged offenséx less than two yars before it filed this action
See Oppn at 27 n.8 [T]he United States only identfied the specific defendant dssets
involvement in the crimeon February 2, 2012, less than two years before fiing the civil
forfeiture complaint [fled on November 18, 2013] and well within the statutamiitions
without resorting to the tolingrovision”). If this is correct, then the government filed its
complaint within the statutory limit without toling. But in any event, toling does apply o th
government’'sclaims based on the ongoing absence of defendant properties from the United
States, anthencethe complaintwastimely filed.

Claimants alsoargue that toling in this action violates their due process rights.
Specifically, they contend that “[tlhe excessiveness of the Governmgntelay in pursuing
claims against the Claimed Property runs far afoul of the protections affordeti@éa by the
Fifth Amendmeris Due Process Clausdéecause the deldyhas severely prejudiced Claimants
and puts them in the absurd position of having to defend against allegations of events that
occurred almost 20 years agdviot. to Dismiss at 1819.

There areseveral problems with this argument. First, as noteabove there is a
fundamental dispute betweeclaimants and the government regarding whether tofing
necessanfor the complaint to be timeffled. The government represents that it knew of the
portfolios’ involvement in the criminal conspiracy for less than two years poidiling the
complaint, which claimants challengeAt this point in the proceedingtowever,the Courtis

not in a positionto resolve this dispute
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Secondas claimantsacknowledgeto succeed otheir due processlaim, claimantsmust
“show that the Governmeést delay in bringing the action: a) prejudiced [claimgnility to
defend [themselves], and byvas a purposefutlevice to gain a tactical advantage over the

accused.” Mot. to Dismiss at 20guoting United States v. Mahoney, 698 Supp. 344,46

(D.D.C. 1988)). Claimantswustproduce evidence to support thesesertions See, e.g.United

States v. Bridgemarb23 F.2d 1099, 1112 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (explaining that allegation of “a

general dmming of memories and loss of evidence” was insufficient to show pregudice
tactical advantage)Mahoney 698 F. Suppat 346 (explaining that defendastmere assertion
that it is difficult to recall events that occurred eight or more yagwsis insufficient to show
prejudice or tactical advantage Hence claimants assertion that[tlhe excessive length of the
delay [in the fiing of the complaint], alone, shouldise an inference that Claimants wil be
unavoidably prejudiced,Mot. to Dismiss at 21, is clearly insufficient. Morenseded to show
prejudice, and thisnotion to dismiss is not the apprigpe vehicle for th argument. See, e.qg.

SeventyNine Thousand Three Hundred Twefye Dollars 522 F. Supp. 2d at 72 n.5

(declining to address claimants’ constitutional arguments on a motion to dismissddba
only question beforea courtat that stage is whether theomplaint sufficiently describesthe
circumstances that form the basis for the claims so as to enaliaithant. . . ‘to commence
an investigation of the facts and to frame a responsive pléading

Third, all claimants may not all be entitled to due process protectiting possite that

I.LA.B., the minor child wo is a U.S. citizens protected by the due process clauSee, e.g

Rasul v. Myers563 F.3d 527, 529 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (“American citizens abroad can invoke some

constitutional protectiond (citing Reid v. Covert354 U.S. 1, 5 (1957plurality)). The other

seven claimanihoweverare foreign nationals who are located outside of thitetd States. i
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of them assertthat they lack minimum contacts with the United Stetese claimant—Ibrahim
Bagudu—assertsthat he travels to the U.S. regularly and does not argue that he lacks minimum
contacts).

The D.C. Circuit has not opined on whether foreign nationals may assert a due process
claim in United Statescourts in the context of aim rem civil forfeiture action. See Banco
Espafigl 295 F.3d at 27 n.* (explaining thatinder the circumstancef)e court“need not
consider whethefclaimants] status as a foreign national outside the United States precludes any
constitutional clains). The Circuit has decided, however, that foreign entbiesationals
without minimum contacts with the United States lack due process or other constitigitsa

Peoplés Mojahedin Orgof Iranv. Dept of State 182 F.3d 17, 22 (D.CCir. 1999) (A foreign

entity without property or presence in this country has no constitutional rights, tinedeiue

process clause or otherwi§e.Arbelaez v. Newcomhl F. Appx 1, 1 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (holding

that plaintiffs, who were foreign nationals without a substantial connectidre ttynited States,
could notraise claimsunder constitutional provision barringpils of attainder and ex post facto
laws). And in other situationshe Supreme Court has indicated that foreign natioraigassert
constitutional claims only if they have minimum contacts with the United StateSee e.q,

United States v. Verdugdrquidez 494 U.S. 259, 271 (1990ktéting, in the context of the

Fourth Amendment, thdtaliens receive constitutional protections when they have aoith@
the territory of the United States and developed substantial connections wittouhisy );

Johnson v. Eisentrager, 339 U.S. 763,—710(1950) (holding thatnonresident aliens who have

insufficient contacts with the United States are not entitled to Fiftrer@ment habeas

protections.

14



At this point in the proceedings,is premature for the Court to consider claimamaise
process argument Claimants’ constitutionalargument requires the Court to consider evidence
outside of the pleadings, and hence canneebelvedon the curreninotion to dismiss.

[I1.  DOCTRINES OF INTERNATIONAL COMITY AND ACT OF STATE

Claimants argue that principles of comity awt of statesupportdismissabecause, they
allege, a“2003 Settlement Agreemebietween Mr. Bagudu and Niger@onstitutes a formal
decision and act by Nigeria to fuly and finally resolve the disputes regarding Mr. Bagudu
alleged participation in miggropriating funds from Nigeria. Mot. to Dismiss at 49 The
government responds th&{n]either principles of international comity, nor the act of state
doctrine, warrant dismissal of a ciil forfeiture action when, as hbeeExecutive Branch has
brought a forfeiture action against defendant assets involved in violations of IchiSaldaws’
Oppn at 36.

International comity‘is the recognition which one nation allows within its territory to the

legislative, executive or judicial acts of arethnation. Hitton v. Guyot, 159 U.S113, 164

(1895) see alsd_aker AirwayslLtd. v. Sabena, Belgian World Airlines, 731 F.2d 909, 937 (D.C.

Cir. 1984) explaining that “the central precept of comity teaches that, when possdibe,
decisions of foreigriribunals should be given effect in domestic cdrts “[C] ourts in this
country have long recognized the principles of international comity . . . in order to promote

cooperation and reciprocity with foreign landsPravin Bankr Assocs. v. Banco Popul@el

Pery 109 F.3d 850854 (2d Cir. 1997).Nevertheless, dismissing a case because of international
comity concernss inappropriate when doing sbwould be contrary to the policies or prejudicial

to the interests of the United Statés.One Gulfstrem, 941 F. Supp. 2d at 10 (quotiRRyavin

Banker, 109 F.3dat 854); see alsoUnited States v. Portrait of Waly, A Paintihg By Egon
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Schiele No. 99¢v-9940, 2002 WL 553532, at *1(5.D.N.Y. Apr. 12, 2002)“Even when there
is true conflict with the laws of a foreign nation, United States courts wil niot igiehe name
of comity if doing so conflicts with the law or policy of the United Stéjes.
Along similar lines,“[t]he act of state doctrin@recludes the courts of this country from
inquiring into the validity of the public acts a recognized foreign sovereign power committed

within its own territory. McKesson Corp. v. Islamic Repf Iran 539 F.3d 485, 491 (D.C. Cir.

2008) (internal quotation marks omitted). Hend® &ct of state doctrinés applicable when
‘the relief sought or the defense interposed would [require] a court in the UnitedtGtdekre
invalid the official act of a foreign sovereign performed withie boundaries. World Wide

Minerals, Ltd. v. Repof Kazakhstan, 29¢.3d 1154, 11645 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (quoting/V.S.

Kirkpatrick & Co. v. Enul. Tectonics Corp 493 U.S. 400, 405 (1990)).‘One of the major

concerns underlying the act of state doctrinéthe strong sense of the judicial branch that its
engagement in the task of passing on the validity of foreign acts of a state may hindehaather
further this countrys pursuit of goals both for itself and for the community of nations as & who

in the international sphefé. One Gulfstream941 F. Supp. 2d at 412 (quoting Banco

Nacional de Cuba v. Sabbatin@76 U.S. 398, 423 (1964

Here, the Executive Branch, through the Department of Justice, has brougbrtfeliigré
action against defendaptopertiesinvolved in alleged vialtions of United Statescriminal laws.

And asin One Gulfstream®[b]ecause the ExecutMeas already done the balancing in deciding

to bing the case in the first placthe doctrine of international comity does not bar this lawsuit

941 F. Supp. 2d at 2Q1 (internal quotation marks amitation omitted);see alsdJnited States

v. All AssetsHeld at Bank Julius Baer & Co., 772 F. Supp.228,210 n.3(D.D.C. 2011)("[A]

case in which the United States is the plaintiff would seem a pamjicufeuitable candidate for
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abstention on international comity ground$Vhere, as here, the executive branch has decided
that a forfeiture action is in the interests of the United States, dgcjimisdiction oti of
deference to the interests of a foreign nation would be inajgtepy. Likewise, the act of state
doctrine does not weigh against this Cauréexercise of jurisdiction Because thisaction is
brought on behalf of the United Statesenforce United States lawthere is little concern that
the Courts decision*may hinder rather than further this counsypursuit of goals both for itself

and for the community of nations as a wholBanco Naional de Cuba, 367 U.S. at 4Ze

also United States v. Giffen326 F. Supp. 2d 497, 502 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (“The major

underpinning of the act of state doctrine is the policy of foreclosing court adjudicationsxgwolvi
the legalty of acts of foreign states on their own soil that might embahadsxecutive Branch

. in the conduct of our foreign relations . . Where the Executive Branch files an action,
however, courts are reluctant to invoke the act of state doctrine on this ratidimadsrial
guotation marks omittefl) Hence neither theprinciples ofad of state nothose ofinternational
comity support dismissal of this forfeiture action.

V.  FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS IN THE COMPLAINT

As previously mentioned this forfeiture action is brought under 18 U.S.C.

8 981(a)(1)(A),which provides that[a]ny property, real or personal, involved in a transaction or
attempted transaction in violation of sect[d®56 or 1957]of this title, or any property traceable
to such property is subject to forfeiture to the United StateSection 1956 provides a criminal
penalty for money laundering. Section 1957 provides a criminal penalty for the knowing
engagement or attempted engagement in a monetary transaction derivedsemified
unlawful activity; which includes violations of sections 2314 and 2315 (the transportation of

stolen property in interstate or foreign commerce) and section 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv) (the
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misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of public funds by or for the benefit of a public
official). See18 U.S.C. 88 1957)f3), 1956(c)(7)(A)}(B), 19611). Claimants challenge the
sufficiency of the governmeést factual allegations in support of itgst three claims for
forfeiture, which rely on the provisions recounted abdveEach of these claims provilen
independenbasis for the forfeiture of defendant investment portfolios.
A. Thegovernmeris first claim for forfeiture

The governmehs first claim for forfeiture alleges that defendant properties were
involved in or traceable to money laundering or attempted money laundering in violation of
section 1957, as a result tdpecified unlawful activity penalized by sections 2314 and 2315.
These sections definspecified unlawful activity as whensomeone“transpors, transmnts, or
transfersin interstate or foreign commerce any. securities or money, of the value of $5,000 or
more,knowing the same to have been stolen, converted or taken by fi8ud,S.C. 8314, or
“receives, possesses, conceals, storessells, or disposes of any . . . securities, or money of the
value of $5,000 or more. . which have crossda State or United States boundary knowing
the same to have been stolen, unlawfuly converted, ontak® U.S.C. §2315. In other words
to make out a claim under sections 2314 and 2315, the government must alléige phaperty
was stolen converted, or taken by fra(jdthat the property was transported in interstate or
foreign commerce and that someone whomoved the property into interstate or foreign

commerce knew the property was stolen, converted, or taken by fraud.

6 Claimants do not challenge the sufficiency of the govertséourth and fifth claims, which do not
apply to defendant investment portfolios.

" Sections 2314 and 2315, when examined together, havineremeted to apply to pperty transported,
sold, orreceived in interstate or foreign commerce knovrate been “stolen, converted or taken by frage&,
e.g.United States v. Mask of KideferNefer, 752 F.3d 737, 741 (8th Cir. 2014)nited States v. Lazarenka64
F.3d D26, 1032 (9th Cir. 2009)nited States v. Cotoi@85 F.2d 497, 502 (4th Cir. 1986).
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Claimants argue that the governmienfirst claim should be dismissdetcause (1) the
complaint fails to shovthat the Debt BwBack scheme was fraudulent and thus the government
hasfailed to show thaproceeds from the scheme westelen, convertedor taken by fraudand
(2) the complaintfails to allege facts showing that, in the course lobth the Secunt Votes
scheme and the Debt B#ack schemesomeone whotransportedthe funds in foreign
commerce knew that the funds were stolen, converted, or taken by fraud

1. Whether the complainsufficiently allege facts showing thathe DebtBuy-Back
schemeconstituted fraudulenéctiviy

According to the complaint, in thBebt BuyBack scheme, Generalbacha, histwo
sors, their associate Bagudy the Nigerian Minister of Financeand others caused the
government of Nigeria to purchase rmerforming government deldit an inflated pricdrom a
company controlled by Bagudu and MohammAdxhcha Once theproceed from the DebBuy-
Back schemewere transferred out of Nigeria, they wdagindered through the purchase of
Nigerian Par Bondand d@osited intothe defendant investment portfoliosSeeCompl. § 53.

Claimants argue that the complaiptrovides no basis to conclude [the D&aty-BacK
[tiransaction was fraudulent and thgsovides] no basis for the forfeiture of any DeBuy-
Backderived property as proceeds of crimeMot. to Dismiss at 31. Specifically, claimants
conend that the complaintdoes not sufficiently allege that the profits from the transaction were
‘stolen, convertedor taken by fraudas would be required for aolation of either 18 U.S.C. §
2314 or 2313 |d. at31-32.

In response, the government asserts that specific allegations aboututhdefranature
of the Debt Biy-Back schemeare included in the complaintOppgn at 1213 (citing Compl.

11 2, 36 41). Indeed, the governmésntallegation thatMohammed Abacha, Bagudu, and others

defrauded Nigeria of more than $282 milion by causing the government of Nigeria to repurcha
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Nigerids own debt from one of their companies for more than double wbatidNiwould have
paid to repurchase the debt on the open markampl. I 36provides a basis to conclude that

the funds were proceeds of frauste e.g, United States v. A 10th Century Cambodian

Sandstone Sculpturé&lo. 12 Civ. 2600(GBD), 2013 WL 1290515, at *6 (SD.N.Y. Mar. 28,

2013 (explaining that the governméstallegations that defendant property wamleri via an
organized“looting network and ultimately delivered to a dealer in Bangkokrevsufficient to
support a reason&bbelief that thegovernment would be able to meet its burden of proof at trial
to demonstrate that the property was stolen).

Claimants argue, however, th§a]lthough the Complaint labels this transaction as a
‘fraud’ . . .there are simply no factual allegations to back up the Comgplaiaked assertions of

wrongdoing: Mot. to Dismiss a32 Claimantsdirect the Couits attention tdOne Gulfstream

where a forfeiture complaintwas dismissedor failing to link the defedant jet to any specific

licit acts despite a‘disconcerting pattern of corruptién. 941 F. Supp. 2d a4. There, the
government had aleged that the defendant jet was subject to forfeiture becaase either
derived from or traceable to extortion, misappropriation, theft, or embezzlempublic funds

by a public official Seeid. at 5. The complaint alegedatthe jet was purchased by Equatorial
Guineas Minister of Forestry and Agriculture, who was a membetaofcoterie of powerful
individuals . . . [who] demand[ed] extortionate payments from ol companies seeking to do
business in the country . . . [and] misappropriate[d] government funds into a slush fund created
for their personal usk. Id. The governmehs only alleged connection between the jet and the
illegal activity was itsallegationthat, becausethe Minister of Forestry and Agricultuselevel of
spending was inconsistent with his government salary, the defendant jet must have tedn deri

from or traceable to extortion, misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of pubtis by a
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public official. 1d. at 5, 1415. The courexplained howeverthat “[wlhen viewed in tandem
with other details suggesting ilegal behavior, [the Minister of Forestry and Agr&s] wealth
might allow an inference of ilegal actiitybut standing alone, it does riotld. at 16 see also

id. at 15 ([T]he governrant does not provide enough detail for the court to infer the contours of
the ilicit schemé’). “Faced with this complairit,the court concluded;the claimants would

find it difficult to know where to begin their investigation, what individuals to interviemwnhat
documents to review. . . The government cannot proceed by casting general allegations of
lawlessness in the country in which the relevant transactions took”pkktet 16.

In contrast, the court ilnited States v. Sum of $70,990,608nied amotion to dismiss

a forfeiture actionin which the complaint named an individual subcontractor engaged in a
“scheme to defraud,involving the payment of bribes and kickbacks to officials who, in turn,
fraudulently inflated the price of contracts4 F. Supp. 3d 189, 19@D.D.C. 2014). The
complaint thereincluded specific examples of bribery that diore than* describe] a
discancerting pattern of corruptioh, becauset identified the victim of the scheme, members of
the conspiracy, the goal of the conspiracy, the means of effectuating the conspiracijcand w

members of the conspiracy were responsible for which ddtsat 200 Quoting One Gulfstream

941 F. Supp. 2dt 4). Addiionally, the court noted that the individual subcontractor received
most of the contracts, ewevhen his company did not baindconcluded that[tlhese signals of
fraud [i.e., being awarded contracts without biddifg]hen viewed in tandem with other ddgai
suggesting illegal behavicsuch as the money paid . as bribes, suffice to describe tbentours

of the ilegal schem&. Id. at 201 (internal quotation marks omittecdjee alsoUnited States v.

$22,173.00n U.S. CurrencyNo. 09 Civ. 7386(SAS), 2010 WIL328953 at *3(S.D.N.Y. Apr.

5, 2010) (explaining that a large amount of cdspt in a safedepog box, rather than an
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interestbearing account‘[ijn tandem with the factual allegations suggesting a pattern of drug
trafficking—e.g, the allegations indicating [that the ownef the safedeposit box] was in
possession of a hadfunce of cocaine on the night the NYPD executed the first search warrant
and the multiple prior arrests for possession with intent tb—sedas sufficientto support the
governmeris clam that the saf@eposit money is subject to forfeiture)

The complaint here, like that in Sum of $70,990,605“does not suffer from mere

conclusory and broalrushed allegatioris. 4 F. Supp. 3d at 199Instead the government has
specified the victim of the alleged fraud (Nigeritle perpetrators of the alleged fraud (Bagudu,
Abacha,Abachas sonsandthe Minister of Finance)the goal of the fraudtd defraud Nigeria

by orchestrating its purchase of debt at a vastly inflated)prbe means of effeaaing the

fraud (the agreement between Bagulia, andlbrahim AbachaMecostéas purchase of the dé

with money loaned by Nigeridhe sale of the debt from Mecosta togélia, and the wrious
transations afterwardmoving the proceeds of the sale overseas and depositng them into
accountscontrolled byBagudu and Mohammed Abaghand which members of the fraud were
responsible for which acts. This information is celgasufficient for claimants t@aommence an

investigation of the facts and frame a responsive pigadieeOne Gulfstream941 F. Supp. 2d

at 14.
The allegations are also sufficietd support annference of ilegal activitywell beyond
“general allegations of lawlessness in deaintry in which the relevant transactions took place.

One Gulfstream941 F.Supp.2d at B. For example, the complaint includes allegatitmst a

deal was struck between Bagudu &eheralAbachas son and Nigeria Minister of Financeo
cause Nigena to buy its ownnonperforming debt from a company owned by Bagudu and

another son ofseneralAbachaat more than double what Nigeria wotidve paid on the open
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marke®; that GeneralAbacha personally approved this deal at the inflated price;tlatdhe
proceeds from #h deal were moved overseas to accounts controle@®dnudu andone of
GeneralAbachas sos. These factsupport an inference thtte Debt BuyBack scheme was
fraudulentand therefore that the proceeds of the scheme were stolen, converted, or taken by
fraud

2. Whether the complaint sufficiently allefjfacts showing that whoever transported the
subject funds o foreign commerce knew that the funds were stolen, conyested

taken by fraud

Sections 2314 and 2315 have aiminatknowledge element: one involved in the
transporation of property in interstate or foreign commerce must have known that the property
was stolen, converted, or taken by fraud. For the purpos#i®e cfufficiency of a complaint,

such knowledge can be inferred from the factual alegatiddse, e.g.United States v. One

Tyrannosaurus Bataar Skeletdio. 12 Civ. 4760(PKC)2012 WL 5834899, at *10 (S.D.N.Y

Nov. 14, 2012) (finding thagjovernmentalleged sufficient facts to show that paleontologisio
moved defendant skeleton in interstate commeaoew that the skeletorwas stolen where
complaint alleged that paleontologist attempted to obsdsireountry of origin on importation

paperworl; SeventyNine Thousand Three Hundred Twefye Dollars 522 F. Supp. 2d af2

(finding that government had sufficiently allegedienterfor the ilegaltransportof money in
interstate commerce where complaint alleged that individual had misrepckeslestamount of
money he was carrying over the border by filing out a customs form for only a portion of the

funds in his possession)

8 Claimants argue that, because there was a dispute between NigetizeaRussian company that
originally owned the debt, “it is implausible that Niger@auld have agotiated a deal directly with TPE [to buy the
debt] ata significantly better price.” Mot. to Dismiss at 32. This is adatthallenge, not a legal one; it is
therefore not an argument for the Court’s consideratiohiastage of the proceedings.
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Claimants argue that, for both hgines,the complaintfails to adequately allegehat
Bagudu knew the funds were stolen at the time he movedititeforeigncommerce. Instead,
claimants contend,’[a]t most, the Complaint alleges that Mr. Bagudu, a private citizen,
transferred large swnof money he received from Mohammed Abacha, who is not alleged to be
a public official, to accounts in foreign countriesReply at 9. The government respondbat
Bagudus knowledgecan be inferred fronthe fraudulent conductlleged in the complairdnd
that “[iit is reasonable to draw such inferenteshere “Bagudu, a private citizen, moved
hundreds of milions of dollars of Nigerian public funds overse&yppn at 16.

Recall that the complaint alleges thafter the funds from the Security Vetscheme
were fraudulently disbursed from the Central Bank of Nigeria, bank staff and others delivered
the funds toNational Security AdvisorGwarzo at his residengceGwarzo and otherghen
repackage the currency in secure bags and dediddt to GeneralAbacha at his residencand
Abacha and otherthendelivered these funds to Abach& son Mohammed AbacHan bags or
boxes full of casi. Compl. § 32. Mohamed Abaclsubsequentigave the cash he received
Bagudu, who arranged to move the meneppraimately $700 milion—out of Nigeria and
into overseasaccounts controlled by Bagudu and Mohammed Abadtdaf 33. Moreover, it is
also allegedhat, n the Debt BwBack schemeBagudu struck a deal witBeneralAbachas
other son lbrahim Abacha andligerids Finance Ministerso that Nigeria would buy nen
performing debtat a significant markup from Mecosta (a foreign company owned by Bagudu
and Mohammed Abacha)ld. 11 39-40. This markup was quite significartfrom 350 milion
DM to 972 milion DM. Id. 1 42. GeneralAbacha“personally approvédNigerias purchase of
the debt,d. T 44, and Mohammed Abacha and Baguglalded a profit of approximately 481

milion DM or $282,96,664. Id. 1 43. Afterward, two banks where Bagudu and Mohammed
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Abacha moved the proceeds cancelled their servioesr concerns about the source of the
money, and “over false representations made by Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha about the
source of their money. Id. 11 4647. Finaly, a third bank accepted the money, that
acceptance wasased on théfalse representations of Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha and false
documents purportedly showing legitimate sources of the Mecosta fhdade¥.48.

According to the complaint, therBagudu, with Mohammed Abacha involvement,
repeatedly movednilions of dollarsof suspiciously packaged funds (boxes and bags of milions
of dollars from the Security Voteschemég and milions of dollarsof money he kne was from
Nigerids public funds (from the Debt BiBack schemeoverseas to bank accounts controlled
by him andone of General Abacha’sons Bagudu and Mohammed Abackabsequently lied
about the source fome ofthe funds toseveral sets dbankofficials. Acceptingall of these
facts as true for tB purpose ofresolvingclaimants motion as the Court musgives rise to a
reasonable inference that Bagualnd Mohammed Abacha knew that the funds wiestelen,
converted or taken by fraudvhen thefunds weretransported intdoreign commerce. And
certainly, there aresufficient facts aleged for the claimants to‘understand the theory of

forfeiture, file a responsive pleading, and undertake an adequate investig&lioa.Gulfstream

941 F. Supp2d at 14.
B. The governmeid second claim for forfeiture
The governmens second faim for forfeiture alleges that defendant properties were
involved in or traceable to money laundering or attempted money laundering in violation of
section 1957, as a result tpecified unlawful activity penalized by section 1956(c)(7)(B)(v).
“Specified unlawful actity,” in this statutory provision is defined as‘an offense against a

foreign nation involving. . . bribery of a public official, or the misappropriation, theft, or
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embezzlement of public funds by or for the benefit of a public officiall8 U.S.C.
§ 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv). Claimants argue that the governmertlaim should be dismissebecause
the complaint does not allege that the DBbY Back schemevas a specific “offense against a
foreign nation” involving misconductby or for the benefit of a public officidl

Regarding the involvement of a public official, the governhseatiegations state that the
Debt BuyBack scheme was conducted with the assistance of Finance Mikistemd the
approval of GeneralAbacha. See Compl. 1 40 (‘Ani entered into an agreement on behalf of
Nigeria to buy the debt from Mecosta . .”); .1 44 (‘Nigerids purchase of the debt was
personally approved bgeneralAbacha . . .”). These allegations are more tHaonclusory
and unadorned allegation[s] that the [foremiblic official at issue] wasnvolved” in the alleged

misconduct. United States v. 2291 Ferndowne LaKe&swick VA 229479195 No. 3:10CV-

0037, 2011 WL 2441254, at *4 (W.D. Va. June 14, 20Hti9nfssing claimwhere complaint
failed to allege any specific acts afformerpublic official in furtherance of money laundering).
Hence, he complaint sufficiently alleges actions taken by a public officalved in the Debt
Buy-Back scheme.

Likewise, egarding “an offense against a foreign nationthe complaint presents
sufficient factual support. Specifically, the complaadegesthat

At all times relevant to this complaint, conduct constituting theft; conversion;

fraud; extortion; and the misappropriatioheft, or embezzlement of public funds

by or for the benefit of a public official were criminal offenses under Nigerian

law, as enumerated in the Nigerian Criminal and Penal SCaadudingbut not

imited to Nigerian Criminal Code Act . . . and the NigarPenal Code Law. . . .

Copies of relevant provisionare set forth in Attachment A.

Compl. § 101. Attachment A contains vaws provisions of law from the Nigerian Criminal

Code and the Nigerian Penal Code, including prohibitions on the corruption and abuse of
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political office, theft,the corruption of public servants, misappropriation, breach of trust, and the
receipt of stola property. SeeAtt. A [ECF No. #1].

Claimants argue thathe governmehs allegations are insufficient to show a foreign
offense becauséhe Nigerian Criminal Codéeloes not apply to the region of Nigeria where the
aleged corruption took place. Evesupposingthat this is true, thecomplaint stil alleges
offenses of the Nigerian Penal Code, which appears to apply to the whole césgnming the
governmeris factsto betrue, and drawingall reasonable inferences in the governrngeifavor,
then,the government hasufficiently alleged that a foreign offense occurred in the course of the
Debt BuyBack scheme.

C. The governmeid third claim for forfeiture

The governmehs third claim for forfeiturealleges that defendant properties are subject
to forfeiture becausdhey were involved in or traceable to a conspiracy to commit money
laundering in violation of sections 1956(h) and 19%ection1957 describes money laundering
as when a persofiknowingly engages or attempts to engage in a monetary transaction in
criminally derived property 18 U.S.C. 8 1957(a). And section 1956(h) criminalzes any
conspiracy to commit an offense defined in section 1956 or section I8&mants arguehat
the complaint fails sufficiently to allege both that someone whdaundered thdunds knew they
wereproceeds of a crimand that there wasa conspiracy to laundenoney

The Courthas already concluded that the complaint allegedficient facts to infer that
Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha knew that fthds from the Debt BuyBack scheme and the
Securly Vote scheme were stolen when they movedftimels into foreign commerce. These
same funds were subsequently laundered through the purchislggeidn Par Bonds. It stands

to reason that if Bagudu and Mohammed Abacha were aware that the funds wee fdem
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illegal activty when they moved them into foreign commerce, then they also knew that thos
same funds were derived from illegal atgivivhen they subsequently laundertésem through
the purchase of Nigerian Par Bonds.

As for whether the complaint alleg@sconspiracy to launder monéft] he government
does not need to allege facts that demonstrate an explicit agreement;[phitbef of a tacit, as

opposed to explicit, understanding is sufficient to show agre€imeSum of $70,990,605 F.

Supp. 3d at 198quoting Halberstam v. Welch705 F.2d 472, 477 (D.C. Cit983)). Here, the

government cites multiple allegations in theomplaint that it argues demonstratea tacit
agreementto launder the fundssuch as allegationsdescribing Bagudu and Mohammed
Abachas joint investment of the Nigerian Par Bonds; their use of shell companiefthangd
collaboration moving the crimath proceeds from theSecurity Votes Fraudverseas. Opgn at
18 (citing Compl. 1 553, 58, 65, 70).

Indeed, he factsalleged, if true, would confirnthat both men played key rolestire two
schemes and were in control of the bank accounts where the proceeds from these scheemes wer
deposited. The complaint also alleges that both were responsible for the laundering of the
proceeds through Nigerian Par Bondsee, e.g.Compl.  53‘Bagwdu and Mohammed Abacha
pooled proceeds of the Security Votes Fraud [and] the DebtBBak Fraud . . . into the
purchase of [Nigerian Par Bonds] . . . through a complex series of transactionsactimgathe
United State$). The complaint describehéd Nigerian PaBond transactionrs-and Bagudu’'s
and Mohammed Abacha’s involvemerait length and in detailSeeid. 1 54-93. Accepting d
the allegations as true addawingall inferences in the light most favorable to the government,

these concerted actions suppibit existence dd tacit agreement to launder funds.
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D. Traceability

Lastly, daimants argue thaall three claims at issue must be dismissed becthese
complaint “fails to allege sufficient facts connecting the Claimed engp[ie., the four
defendant investment portfoliotd the alleged criminal activity, fails to support an inference that
the [Nigerian Par Bondsére traceable proceeds of money laundering, and fails to allege that any
co[-Jmingling occurred in order toonceal the source of the funds at issuMot. to Dismiss at
47.

The pleading standard for tracing funds in a civil forfeiture complaint is not egacti
even claimantconcedethat “the D.C. Circuit has held that the Government is not required to
demorstrate full tracing of all account activity to prove money laundering under 18 U.S.C

8§ 1956° Mot. to Dismiss at 39 (citing United States v. Braxtonbr&wmth 278 F.3d 1348,

1354 (D.C. Cir. 2009. Moreover “since the issue on this motiondse of pleading, not proof
at trial, it is not necessarip pass on the governmé&ntultimate burden of proof regarding

traceabilty of the defendanrisrem.” United States v. All FunddNo. CV-05-3971(SJF), 2007

WL 2114670, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. July 16, 20D (internal quotation marks omitted)Here, he
government has sufficiently alleged that the two schemes constituted unlavifity acider
sectios 195 and 193, a predicate to establishing that defendanaipertiesare subject to
forfeiture. The governmenhas also alegedthat the proceeds from the two schemes were
laundered through th@urchase of Nigerian Par Bonds, ahdt defendanpropertiescontain
proceeds obtaineffom the liquidationof the Nigerian Par Bonds Accordingly, the govament
has alleged sufficiently detailed fadts the complaintto demonstratehat defendanproperties

contain assetdraceable to specified unlawful activity.See United States v. pproximately

$25,829,681.80 in Funds, No. 98 Civ. 2682(LMM), 1999 WI80370, at 7 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 30,
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1999 (holding that as long as the government alleges specific facts supporting an inference that
the funds are traceable to wire fraud and mail fraud, it has met its burden at theyplstage)

To the extent claimdas argue that there are innocent funds in defendant propénaess an

issue of fact folater resolutionfor purpose®f this motion to dismiss, tnCourt must accept the
government'sfactualallegations as true.

In sum, he government haallegedsufficiently detailed facts to support a reasonable
belief thatit wil be able toestablishby a preponderance of the evidence that defendant
investment portfolios are subject to forfeiturdzed. R. Civ. P. SuppR. G(2)(f). And the
government has plethe circumstances from which the claims arise with such particularity that
the claimantsshould beable to commence an investigation of the facts and frame a responsive
pleading. No more is needed at this stage.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonslaimants motion to dismiss wil be denied. A separate Order

accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

/sl
JOHN D. BATES
United States District Judge

Dated: March19, 2015
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